\$170560

SUPREME COURT COPY

Supreme Court No. _____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff, Cross-Defendant and Appellant

vs.

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY et al.,


Defendants, Cross-Complainants and Appellants;

EMPLOYERS INSURANCE OF WAUSAU,

Defendant, Cross-Complainant and Respondent

**SUPREME COURT
FILED**

FEB 13 2009

Frederick K. Ohlrich 
Deputy

PETITION FOR REVIEW

From an Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District,
Division Two, Case No. Civil E041425

From a Decision of the Riverside County Superior Court Case No. 239784
(Consolidated with Case No. RIC-381555)

The Hon. E. Michael Kaiser, Judge

I. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Where gradual harm triggers several insurance policies, each of which covers property damage during the policy period, does it impermissibly rewrite the policies to hold that each insurer must pay for all property damage both during and outside the policy period?
2. Did the Court of Appeal improperly allow the insured to "stack" the limits of all policies triggered by a single occurrence, directly conflicting with the Sixth District's decision in *FMC Corporation v. Plaisted & Company*, 61 Cal.App.4th 1132, 1188 (1998)?

II. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents two issues that are ideal for review under Rules of Court 8.500(b)(1). First, the Court of Appeal determined that the insured may obtain indemnity coverage for damages because of property damage that did not take place during the policy period if any property damage took place during the policy period ("all sums" ruling), contrary to the express policy language that the insured

may only recover for damages for the property damage that occurred during the policy period. This issue is at the heart of every insurance case involving continuous harm.

In its ruling in favor of the “all sums” approach, the Court of Appeal relied on this Court's decisions in *Montrose Chemical Corporation v. Admiral Insurance Company*, 10 Cal.4th 645 (1995) and *Aerojet-General Corporation v. Transport Indemnity Company*, 17 Cal.4th 38 (1997).

However, in *Montrose*, the Court only addressed whether general liability policies “obligate Admiral to defend Montrose in lawsuits seeking damages for continuous or progressively deteriorating bodily injury and property damage that occurred during the successive policy periods.” *Montrose, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at 645. The Court held that each policy was potentially triggered because part of the ongoing damage allegedly happened during each policy period, creating a potential for coverage that gave rise to a duty to defend under each policy. *Id.* at 689.

In deciding the duty to defend question, the Court did not need to determine the extent of the indemnity obligation or whether each policy required to defend must also indemnify the insured for property damage that did not happen during its policy period.

In *Aerojet*, the Court addressed (as relevant here) the issue of “whether defense costs may be allocated to the insured.” *Aerojet, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at 45. Like the issue raised in *Montrose*, the question in *Aerojet* only concerned the duty

to defend. The Court explained that the duty to defend is broader than the duty to indemnify, and that different analyses apply in determining whether costs are properly included within these distinct duties. (“It is plain that the insurer’s duty to defend is broader than its duty to indemnify...It extends beyond claims that are actually covered to those that are merely potentially so... .”) *Id.* at 59. In *Aerojet*, the Court determined that, because an insurer must pay all defense costs for a claim that is at least potentially covered, the duty to defend under a triggered policy extends to the entire defense where at least part of the potentially covered damage happened during the policy period. *Id.* at 68-76.

The duty to defend analysis does not apply to the duty to indemnify, however, which extends only to “harm proved within coverage.” *Certain Underwriters at Lloyds of London v. Superior Court (Powerine Oil Company)*, 24 Cal.4th 945, 950 (2001); *Palmer v. Truck Insurance*, 21 Cal.4th 1109, 1120 (1999) (“While an insurer has a duty to defend suits which potentially seek covered damages, it has a duty to indemnify only where a judgment has been entered on a theory which is actually (not potentially) covered by the policy.”); *Buss v. Superior Court*, 16 Cal.4th 35, 45-46 (1997) (the duty to indemnify runs to claims that are actually covered in light of facts proved, while the duty to defend encompasses claims that are merely potentially covered in light of facts alleged); *Montrose, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at 659, fn.9. (“Although an insurer may have a duty to defend, it ultimately may have no obligation to indemnify, either because no

damages were awarded in the underlying action against the insured, or because the actual judgment was for damages not covered under the policy.”)

The Court has not yet directly addressed and determined the proper method of allocating indemnity coverage in a continuing or progressive loss situation. Such a determination will provide critical guidance to policyholders, insurers and the courts.

Thus, review is necessary to settle an important question of law - - is indemnity coverage limited to damages because of property damage during the policy period, or can the insured recover damages for property damage that took place outside the policy period simply because some property damage took place during the policy period?

Second, the Court of Appeal's decision that the insured may add all the per occurrence limits of its policies together to cover the damages from one occurrence (the "stacking" issue) directly conflicts with *FMC Corporation v. Plaisted and Company*, 61 Cal.App.4th 1132, 1188-1190 (1998).

The *FMC* court ruled that the insured may not stack policy limits of each policy triggered by a continuous occurrence of property damage; rather the insured was entitled to select a single policy period triggered by the occurrence. "Anti-stacking ensures that the insured does not obtain much more insurance than it paid for." *FMC, supra*, 61 Cal.App.4th at 1189.

Thus, review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision as to whether an insured may stack the per occurrence limits of multiple policies in a continuing

injury context. Additionally, because the "stacking" issue is a natural outgrowth of the "all sums" issue and arises in virtually every case involving continuing injury or damage, review is necessary to settle this important question of law.

III. PETITION FOR REHEARING

No Petition for Rehearing was filed in the Court of Appeal as to the two issues involved in this Petition for Review. The State's Petition for Rehearing on an unrelated issue was denied on January 28, 2009.

IV. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners seek review of the portion of the Court of Appeal Opinion entitled "The 'All Sums' and 'No Stacking Ruling'." (Section III of the Slip Opinion ("Slip Op."))

The Court of Appeal determined that once an insurance policy is triggered by continuous damage it must pay "all sums" for the insured's liability, not just damages because of property damage during the policy period. Thus, it held that when there is a continuing loss spanning multiple policy periods, each insurer that covered any period is liable for the loss [up to the policy limits] including for property damage that occurred before or after the policy period. (Slip Op. at 19-20.) The Court of Appeal did not undertake any independent analysis of the policy language or apply the important distinction between the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify. Rather, it concluded that it was bound by what this Court said in *Montrose* and *Aerojet*. The Court of Appeal also referenced other courts of appeal that extended this Court's duty to defend rulings to the context of the duty

to indemnify. See, *Armstrong World Industries, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Company*, 45 Cal.App.4th 1, 49 (1996); *FMC, supra*, 61 Cal.App.4th at 1184-1187; *Stonewall Insurance Company v. City of Palos Verdes Estates*, 46 Cal.App.4th 1810, 1854-1855 (1996). (Slip Op. at 16-17.)

The Courts of Appeal in *FMC* and *Armstrong* extended the “all sums” approach applicable in the defense context to indemnity, citing *Montrose* and *Aerojet* as providing support. See, *FMC, supra*, 61 Cal.App.4th at 1181, 1187, *Armstrong, supra*, 45 Cal.App.4th at 49-50. *Stonewall* simply relies on *Montrose* and *Armstrong*. 46 Cal.App.4th at 1855. These Courts appear to have concluded that *Montrose* and *Aerojet* resolved the “all sums” issue in the indemnity context, even though, as discussed above, the question was not before the Supreme Court in either case. Neither *Montrose* nor *Aerojet* decided that a liability policy provides indemnity for property damage outside the policy period. That issue was not before the Court.

Petitioners contend that the court below and the courts in *FMC* and *Armstrong* erred in applying the “all sums” approach to the duty to indemnify, wrongly relying on this Court’s analysis concerning the duty to defend.

The “all sums” approach to the duty to indemnify conflicts with the policy language at issue, which expressly limits coverage to property damage occurring during the policy period.

The policies provide they will pay all sums for damages because of property damage during the policy period. They do not provide that they will pay

all sums for damages because of property damage during and outside the policy period. The “all sums” result improperly replaces the policy terms limiting coverage to damages because of property damage during the policy period with damages because of property damage during and at any time before and after the policy period. The “all sums” ruling violates the rules of contract interpretation by rendering policy terms meaningless and by rewriting the contracts.

Having adopted an "all sums" approach contrary to the policy language, the Court of Appeal compounded the error in concluding that the State could stack all the horizontal per occurrence limits to cover an occurrence, contrary to *FMC*; *FMC* had held that such stacking of limits would create an unbargained windfall for the insured. *FMC, supra*, 61 Cal.App.4th 1188-1190.

The Court of Appeal here determined that there was no policy language that prohibited stacking. (Slip. Op. at 26-27.) But, the stacking issue arises when a court already has determined that each insurer is responsible for "all sums" for all property damage once its policy is triggered.

The "property damage during the policy period" requirement is the policy language that precludes stacking of limits here. The Court of Appeal's conclusion that there was no language preventing stacking was bootstrapping, because it had already read out of the policy the language that would result in no stacking - - each policy is only responsible for damages because of property damage during that policy period. There is no need to discuss or address stacking if the Court

determines that each insurer is only required to pay for damages because of property damage during the policy period.

The anti-stacking rule of *FMC* is a natural consequence of an "all sums" ruling. Thus, Petitioners request that this Court first consider the "all sums" issue and reject the Court of Appeal's "all sums" ruling as contrary to the plain language of the policies. If the Court reverses the decision on "all sums" and determines that the policies are obligated to pay only for injury during the policy period, as required by the policies, there is no need to address the "stacking" issue. If the State is allowed to obtain coverage for damage outside the policy period, then its recovery should be limited to one set of per occurrence limits consistent with what the Court of Appeal in *FMC* determined.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Petitioners

This Petition is submitted by Continental Insurance Company, Continental Casualty Company, Yosemite Insurance Company, Stonebridge Life Insurance Company and Employers Insurance of Wausau, excess insurer defendants in the action below ("coverage action"). The insured, State of California, is the plaintiff in the coverage action.

B. The Coverage Action In The Superior Court

The State filed this coverage action against petitioners in September 2002. The State seeks to establish indemnity coverage for its costs in remediating the contamination arising from the Stringfellow Acid Pits.¹ (Slip Op. at 3.)

The State selected, designed and constructed the Stringfellow Acid Pits as a Class I hazardous dump site. The site operated from 1956 through 1972, during which time the State directed more than 30,000,000 gallons of liquid industrial wastes to unlined ponds at the site. (Slip Op. at 6.) The site was closed in 1972 when groundwater contamination was found. (Slip Op. at 6.) In subsequent Federal Court proceedings, the State was found 100% liable for the cost of remedying the contamination. (Slip Op. 6-7; *United States of America v. J. B. Stringfellow, Jr., et al.* (1995 WL 450856).)

C. The Policies

Petitioners Continental Insurance Company, Continental Casualty Company, Yosemite Insurance Company and Employers Insurance Company of Wausau issued excess policies to the State during the period September 1970 through September 1975. Stonebridge Life Insurance Company is alleged to have issued an excess policy for the period September 1964 through September 1966.

The policies were drafted by the State and/or the State's broker. (Slip Op. at 8; 6AA 1672-1673).²

¹ The duty to defend is not at issue.

² "AA" refers to the Appellant's Appendix in the Court of Appeal proceedings.

Each policy issued contains the same language relevant here:

1. Insuring Agreement: "To pay on behalf of the Insured all sums which the Insured shall become obligated to pay by reason of liability imposed by law...for damages, including consequential damages, because of injury to or destruction of property, including the loss of use thereof." (Slip. Op. at 8; *e.g.*, 39AA 10149, 10173, 10187).
2. Occurrence Definition: "'Occurrence' means an accident or a continuous or repeated exposure to conditions which result in injury to persons or damage to property during the policy period... ." (Slip. Op. at 8; *e.g.*, 39AA 10151, 10175, 10189).
3. Limits of Liability: "The limit of Underwriters' liability shall be as stated below, subject to all the terms of this policy having reference thereto:

Coverage A	Personal Liability	\$ _____	Part of \$ _____
Coverage B	and Property	Ultimate Net Loss Each	
Combined	Damage Liability	Occurrence Excess of	
		\$ _____	Ultimate Net Loss
		Each Occurrence (hereinafter	
		called 'The Insured's	
		Retention')."	(Slip. Op. at 8;
		<i>e.g.</i> , 39AA 10151, 10175,	
		10189.)	

4. Policy Period Territory: "This policy applies only to occurrences which take place during the policy period commencing [] and ending []... ." (*e.g.* 39AA10149, 10173, 10187.)

D. The Trial Court's Rulings As Relevant Here

The trial court determined that if there is any property damage during a particular policy term, that policy is responsible for all the insured's liability for property damage even for property damage which did not take place during the

policy period. The trial court relied on *Aerojet* for this ruling. (Slip. Op. at 9-10; 34AA 8732).

The trial court also determined that the State may not stack the consecutive per occurrence policy limits of all the policies in effect during which property damage took place. The trial court determined that the State may recover the full amount of the policy limits of the policies in the period it selected from the period of triggered policies. (Slip. Op. at 9-10; 34AA 8732). The trial court relied on *FMC*, which had rejected a similar attempt to stack per occurrence limits in the context of continuous property damage arising from contamination.

E. The Court Of Appeal Opinion

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision on "all sums" and reversed the trial court's decision rejecting "stacking," finding that the State was allowed to stack limits. (Slip Op. at 20, 43.)

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeal's "All Sums" Decision Should Be Rejected

1. This Court Has Not Yet Decided How Indemnity Coverage Should Be Allocated In A Continuing Loss Context

The Court of Appeal Opinion concludes that "all sums" in the indemnity context is a "done deal" in California, citing *Montrose* and *Aerojet*. Petitioners acknowledge that *Montrose* and *Aerojet* discuss "all sums" in relation to indemnity. But neither case held anything regarding indemnity since indemnity

was neither before the Court nor briefed. The opinions in *Montrose* and *Aerojet* make that clear.

In *Montrose* the Court stated what issue was being decided:

In this case we address the issue reserved in *Prudential-LMI*. Specifically, we must determine whether four comprehensive general liability (CGL) policies issued by defendant and respondent Admiral Insurance Company (Admiral) to plaintiff and appellant Montrose Chemical Corporation of California (Montrose) obligate Admiral to defend Montrose in lawsuits seeking damages for continuous or progressively deteriorating bodily injury and property damage that occurred during the successive policy periods. *Montrose, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at 654.

* * *

It must be borne in mind that Admiral's duty to defend Montrose is all that is directly at issue in this proceeding. The obligation to indemnify must be distinguished from the duty to defend. *Id.* at 659 n. 9.

The Court also made plain that indemnity issues were not being decided in *Aerojet*:

The issues to be resolved are whether, under standard comprehensive or commercial general liability insurance policies, site investigation expenses may constitute defense costs

that the insurer must incur in fulfilling its duty to defend, and whether, under such policies, defense costs may be allocated to the insured. *Aerojet, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at 55-56.

Essentially, the "all sums" approach applicable to defense has been extended by the Courts of Appeal to the duty to indemnify by their reliance on this Court's decisions in *Montrose* and *Aerojet*, even though the indemnity issue was not presented or decided in those cases. *See, Stonewall, supra*, 46 Cal.App.4th at 1835-1836 (1996) (question of what proportion of liability triggered insurers bear was not resolved in *Montrose* because the issue "was only whether there was potential coverage under the policy issued by that one insurer."); *Shade Foods, Inc. v. Innovative Products Sales & Marketing, Inc.*, 78 Cal.App.4th 847, 897-899 (2000) (referring to the "liable in full" language in *Montrose* as dicta "that has shaped subsequent Court of Appeal decisions.")

This Court previously has explained the important difference between the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify. "It is plain that the insurer's duty to defend is broader than its duty to indemnify...it extends beyond claims that are actually covered to those that are merely potentially so... ." *Aerojet, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at 59. The duty to defend analysis does not apply to the duty to indemnify, which extends only to "harm proved within coverage." *Powerine, supra*, 24 Cal.4th at 950; *Palmer, supra*, 21 Cal.4th at 1120 (1999) (insurer only has a duty to indemnify where a judgment has been entered on a theory which is actually (not potentially) covered by the policy); *Buss v. Superior Court*, 16 Cal.4th 35, 45-46

(1997) (the duty to indemnify runs to claims that are actually covered in light of the facts proved); *Montrose, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at 659 fn. 9 (“although an insurer may have a duty to defend, it ultimately may have no obligation to indemnify, either because no damages were awarded in the underlying action against the insured, or because the actual judgment was for damages not covered under the policy.”)

Yet, this important distinction is not addressed in appellate cases that extend *Montrose* and *Aerojet* to the indemnity context.

2. "All Sums" In The Indemnity Context Is Inconsistent With The Policy Language

In the context at issue here, the distinction between the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify is an important one. As discussed below, **actual** coverage under the policies at issue, as opposed to a potential for coverage, is limited to all sums for damages because of property damage during the policy period, not all sums if **any** property damage happens during the policy period, or all sums for damages because of property damage during **and outside** the policy period.

Insurance policy language must be construed in the context of the entire policy read together as a whole. *La Jolla Beach and Tennis Club, Inc. v. Industrial Indemnity Company*, 9 Cal.4th 27, 37-38 (1995). Policies must be interpreted so that each word is given independent meaning and no terms are read out or made redundant. *Id.*; Civil Code Section 1641 (“The whole of a contract is

to be taken together, so as to give effect to every part, if reasonably practicable, each clause helping to interpret the other.”).

The “all sums” approach cannot be applied to the policy language at issue without violating these fundamental rules of contract construction. The policies at issue provide in relevant part:

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