## SUPREME COURT COPY

Case No. S170560

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff, Cross-Defendant and Appellant, SUPREME COURT
FILED

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY, et al., Defendants, Cross-Complainants and Appellants;

MAR - 4 2009

EMPLOYERS INSURANCE OF WAUSAU, Defendant, Cross-Complainant and Respondent

Frederick K. Ohirid

Deputy

From an Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. Civil E041425

From a Decision of the Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. CIV-239784 (Consolidated With RIC-381555), The Honorable E. Michael Kaiser, Judge

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### INTRODUCTION

Appellant State of California opposes the petition for review filed in this action by petitioners Continental Insurance, Yosemite Insurance Company, Stonebridge Life Insurance Company and Employers Insurance of Wausau.

Petitioners seek review of two issues decided by the Court of Appeal. The first is the court's "all sums" ruling, which held that, when a policyholder is liable for continuous damage spanning multiple policy periods, each insurance company on the risk during the entire period of damage is obligated to pay "all sums" of the policyholder's property damage liability (up to the policy limits), not just for the specific, incremental damage occurring during each individual policy period. Review is unwarranted because the "all sums" doctrine is already the settled law in this state, as fully developed in the course of two prior California Supreme Court decisions and the unanimous decisions of several courts of appeal. Hence, review is not "necessary to settle an important question of law" as petitioners claim. Moreover, petitioners' contention is contrary to the express language of their policies, which they repeatedly mischaracterize in their petition.

Although petitioners dedicate the vast majority of their petition to their attempt to overturn California's "all sums" doctrine, in the last few pages, they also seek review of the Court of Appeal's holding that, when long-term continuous damage is covered by policies issued during multiple years, the policyholder is entitled to be fully indemnified up to the combined (or "stacked") limits of all applicable liability policies. Petitioners observe that the Court of Appeal's "stacking" ruling conflicts with the prior "anti-stacking" holding of *FMC Corp. v. Plaisted & Co.* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 1132 and assert that review is necessary to "secure uniformity of decision."

The opinion below does in fact disagree with the reasoning of *FMC* which it finds to be flawed and unpersuasive. However, this is not the sort of established, persistent conflict that warrants this Court's review but rather a transitional conflict that will likely be resolved in the lower courts. The first appellate decision (*FMC*) provides only a cursory discussion of the issue while the second decision (from the court below) conducts a comprehensive examination, analyzing points which the first opinion failed even to consider and carefully refuting each basis for the prior court's contrary conclusion. The conflict will probably mend itself as subsequent trial and appellate court decisions align themselves with the better-reasoned authority. Of course, if instead the conflict persists, the Court could always resolve it in a future case.

Because neither the "all sums" nor "stacking" issues merits Supreme Court consideration, petitioners' request for review should be denied.

## I. REVIEW OF THE "ALL SUMS" DOCTRINE IS NOT NECESSARY TO RESOLVE AN IMPORTANT ISSUE OF LAW

# A. Review Is Unwarranted Because the "All Sums" Doctrine Is the Settled Rule In California.

The Court of Appeal held that under the "all sums" doctrine, when continuous property damage spans multiple policy periods, each liability insurer on the risk during the damage period is obligated to pay "all sums" of the policyholder's property damage liability, up to its policy limits. Petitioners, in contrast, insist that each policy's coverage should be limited to the specific damage occurring during its policy period. Petitioners ask this Court to grant review of the "all sums" doctrine, asserting that "review is necessary to settle an important question of law." (Rule 8.500(b)(1).)

Review is unwarranted. The "all sums" doctrine already has been fully articulated, developed and settled in this state in the course of two Supreme Court opinions and at least a half-dozen decisions from the California courts of appeal which, as the court below noted, "have unanimously... followed the all-sums approach." (Slip Op., at pp. 12-16.) Conversely, such courts have rejected petitioners' contention that each policy covers only that part of the continuous damage that occurs during the policy period.

Indeed, as this Court observed in *Aerojet-General Corp. v. Transport Indem. Co.* (1997) 17 Cal.4th 38:

In Montrose Chemical Corp. v. Admiral Ins. Co. [(1995)] 10 Cal.4th 645, we made the point plain. . . . In Montrose, we noted, and reaffirmed, the "settled rule" of the case law that "an insurer on the risk when continuous or progressively deteriorating [property] damage or [bodily] injury first manifests itself remains obligated to indemnify the insured for the entirety of the ensuing damage or injury." [Citation.] In Armstrong World Industries, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 1, . . . [the Court of Appeal] explained: "[T]he event which triggers an insurance policy's coverage does not define the extent of the coverage. Although a policy is triggered only if [bodily injury or] property damage takes place 'during the policy period,' once a policy is triggered, the policy obligates the insurer to pay 'all sums' which the insured shall become liable to pay as damages for bodily injury or property damage. The insurer is responsible for the full extent of the insured's liability ..., not just for the part of the [injury or] damage that occurred during the policy period." In light of the foregoing, commentators have soundly stated: "Courts reject the argument that [an] insurer should only be responsible for [injury or] damage that took place during its policy period...."

(Aerojet, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 57, fn. 10, bolding added, citing Croskey et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Insurance Litigation 2, supra, ¶ 8:73.10, p. 8-19, italics in original.)

3

California courts which have applied the "all sums" doctrine in continuous loss cases include not only Aerojet, Montrose, Armstrong and the court below, but also Stonelight Tile, Inc. v. California Ins. Guarantee Assn. (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 19, 37; Shade Foods v. Innovative Products Sales & Mktg., Inc. (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 847, 897; FMC Corp. v. Plaisted & Co. (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 1132, 1182-1187; County of San Bernardino v. Pacific Indem. Co. (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 666, 681-682, 691, fn. 20; and Stonewall Ins. Co. v. City of Palos Verdes Estates (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1810, 1854-1855. In contrast, petitioners identify not a single California case which has accepted their argument that liability coverage is confined to the specific portion of the damage that occurred during the policy period.

Because the "all sums" doctrine already constitutes the "settled rule" of this state and there is no conflicting California authority, further Supreme Court review is not "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law" under Rule 8.500(b)(1).

# 1. <u>Montrose</u> and <u>Aerojet</u> Are Settled Supreme Court Authority on the "All Sums" Issue

In an attempt to portray the "all sums" doctrine as unsettled in this state, petitioners first try to diminish this Court's pronouncements concerning the rule. Although petitioners "acknowledge that *Montrose* and *Aerojet* discuss 'all sums' in relation to indemnity" (Petition, at p. 11), they suggest that neither decision is valid authority on the issue because, in both cases, the ultimate issue presented to the Court was the duty to defend, not the duty to indemnify.

However, as the *Stonewall* court observed in rejecting a similar argument:

4

It is true that *Montrose* involved a dispute arising at an earlier stage of the third party litigation, namely, a dispute as to whether a particular carrier had a duty to defend its insured against the third party's claims. A duty to defend of course can arise where there is merely a potential for coverage. In the cases at bar the issue is whether there is a duty to indemnify; and the test of whether there is a duty to indemnify is whether there is actual coverage, not merely a potential for coverage. [¶] However, the Montrose court in effect decided the actual coverage question in this case in the course of determining whether there was a potential for coverage in that case. Even though the Montrose case only involved the issue of the duty to defend, the Montrose opinion stated what criteria were to be used in determining whether there was actual coverage because the determination of whether there was a duty to defend necessarily involves whether there was a potential for actual coverage.

(Stonewall, supra, 46 Cal.App.4th 1810, 1835, italics in original, bolding added.) Similarly, the court below in the present case rejected the argument that Aerojet merely was dictum as to whether the "all sums" rule governs the duty to indemnify, stating "the all-sums approach to the duty to indemnify was crucial to the [Aerojet] court's holding regarding the duty to defend." (Slip Op., at p. 17.)

Moreover, in Aerojet, the Supreme Court majority clearly viewed the Montrose decision as governing authority with respect to the duty to indemnify. There, one of the justices filed a concurring and dissenting opinion opining that "[t]he majority's reasoning effectively requires an insurer to indemnify a loss occurring outside the policy period as long as the policy covered the loss at some point in time. This is the opposite of what Montrose requires." (Aerojet, supra, 17 Cal.4th at pp. 89-90, concurring and dissenting opinion of Justice Chin.) The majority opinion expressly rejected that justice's separate view, stating that Montrose "made the point plain" that an insurer on the risk during part of a continuous loss is liable for the entirety of the ensuing

damage or injury. (*Id.*, 17 Cal.4th at p. 57, fn. 10; see also, *id.*, at p. 75, citing *Montrose* for the proposition that "although the *trigger* of the duty to indemnify is limited to the policy period, the *extent* of the duty to indemnify is not.")

Finally, petitioners' contention that the "all sums" doctrine applies only to the duty to defend and not to the duty to indemnify is also nonsensical because the "all sums" language *uniformly* appears in a liability policy's *indemnity* agreement, not the defense agreement, and is thus directly applicable to the duty to indemnify. (See, e.g., *Montrose*, *supra*, 10 Cal.4th at p. 684, fn. 21; *CDM Investors v. Travelers Cas. and Sur. Co.* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 1251, 1257-58.) In the present case, where petitioners' policies contained *no* defense agreement, the "all sums" language can *only* apply to the duty to indemnify.

# 2. The Unanimous Decisions of the California Courts of Appeal Also Establish That "All Sums" Is Settled Law

Nor would it be necessary for this Court to grant review even if it had not already resolved the "all sums" issue in two of its prior decisions. As petitioners concede, several California Courts of Appeal directly have held that the "all sums" doctrine governs the duty to indemnify (Petition, at pp. 5-6), and no countervailing authority exists. Such decisions did not merely follow *Montrose* or *Aerojet* as binding authority, but also examined the issue in light of the language of standard form liability insurance policies, the nature of the policyholder's substantive liability, general principles of California law, and case law from both this and other jurisdictions. (See, e.g., *Armstrong*, *supra*, 45 Cal.App.4th at pp. 56-58 and 104-107; *Shade Foods*, *supra*, 78 Cal.App.4th at pp. 896-898; *FMC*, *supra*, 61 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1182-1187; *Stonewall*,

6

supra, 46 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1854-1855.)

Thus, whether *Montrose* and *Aerojet* are viewed as binding authority, persuasive dicta, or as mere commentary which formed part of the backdrop for the development and establishment of the "all sums" doctrine by the California courts of appeal, the result remains the same: The "all sums" doctrine constitutes the "settled law" of this state in evaluating an insurer's duty to indemnify in a continuous damage case. Accordingly, this Court need not grant review of the issue in this case.

# B. The Plain Language of the Policies Requires Petitioners to Pay "All Sums" of the Policyholder's Property Damage Liability

Petitioners also err in asserting that under the plain language of their policies, each insurance company's liability is limited to that portion of the continuous damage which occurred during its policy period. In so arguing, petitioners repeatedly misstate their policy language and improperly attempt to "cut and paste" language from different sections of their policies. In the process, petitioners confuse the vital distinction between the event which triggers coverage under the policies (damage during the policy period) and the scope of the coverage grant ("all sums") once the policy is triggered.

## 1. <u>Petitioners Repeatedly Misstate the Language of</u> Their Policies

In at least eight instances in their Petition, petitioners contort the language of their policies in an attempt to avoid the "all sums" rule. Specifically, petitioners repeatedly state that their policies expressly limit

coverage to "all sums for damages because of property damage during the policy period." (See, e.g, Petition, at pp. 1, 6, 14, 15, 17, 18, 20, 28, italics added.)

Repetition of this misstatement does not make it true, but rather merely reinforces the invalidity of petitioners' argument. As they briefly concede, the actual language of the insuring agreement for "property damage" liability, which appears in Section I of the policies, simply promises:

To pay on behalf of the Insured all sums which the Insured shall become obligated to pay by reason of liability imposed by law . . . for damages, including consequential damages, because of injury to or destruction of property, including the loss of use thereof.

(Petition, at p. 10; quoting Slip. Op. at p. 8; 39AA 10149, 10173, 10187.)

Nowhere do the insurance policies limit this "all sums" promise to damages because of property damage "during the policy period," as petitioners incessantly and inaccurately assert. Instead, these insurance policies broadly promise to pay "all sums" of the policyholder's liability for injury to or destruction of property.

# 2. <u>Petitioners Confuse Trigger of Coverage With The</u> <u>Scope of Their Payment Obligation</u>

Unable to alter the plain language of their "Property Damage" insuring agreement, petitioners instead rely upon the triggering language in Section III of their insurance policies, entitled "Policy Period, Territory," which states that "[t]his policy applies only to occurrences which take place during the policy period . . . .," and the attendant definition of "occurrence." (Petition, at p. 10.)

However, this "during the policy period" language does not appear in Section I, where the insurance companies promise to pay "all sums." Rather, it appears in separate sections addressing the policy period and the definition of "occurrence."

The Supreme Court has made crystal clear the significance of this very distinction between the trigger of the insurance policy and the extent of an insurance company's liability to its policyholder:

In a word, although the *trigger* of the duty to defend is limited to the policy period, the *extent* of the duty to defend is not. (Cf. *Montrose Chemical Corp. v. Admiral Ins. Co., supra*, 10 Cal. 4th at 686, 42 Cal. Rptr. 2d 324, 913, P.2d 878 [holding that, although the *trigger* of the duty to indemnify is limited to the policy period, the *extent* of the duty to indemnify is not]; *Armstrong World Industries, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., supra*, 45 Cal. App. 4th at p 105, 52 Cal. Rptr. 2d 690 [same].)

(Aerojet, supra, 17 Cal.4th at p. 75, italics in original.)

Petitioners' argument confusing the trigger and scope components of liability insurance policies specifically was considered and rejected by the Court of Appeal in *FMC*:

The crux of this argument is the [insurance company] defendants' theory that the reference in the policies' definition of "occurrence" to "property damage . . . during the policy period" limits the scope of coverage to the policy period. The argument appears to disregard the distinction between trigger of coverage and scope of coverage. The policies' "occurrence" definition, read with the insuring provisions, simply makes clear what must occur during the policy period in order for coverage to attach. Once coverage has attached – i.e., once it has been triggered – it will extend to all of the insured's liability for damages attributable to the same occurrence in and after the policy period.

(FMC, supra, 61 Cal.App.4th at p. 1184, italics in original, bolding added.)

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